
Please ask for Julie Britton: Telephone (01362) 656343 
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk 

 

 
AGENDA 

 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only 

 
 
 

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT APOLICY DEVELOPMENT APOLICY DEVELOPMENT APOLICY DEVELOPMENT AND ND ND ND 

REVIEW PANEL 3REVIEW PANEL 3REVIEW PANEL 3REVIEW PANEL 3 

Date & Time - TUESDAY, 9TH DECEMBER, 2008 AT 10.00 
AM 

Venue - THE GALLERY BAR, WATTON SPORTS 
CENTRE, WATTON 

 

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two 

working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is available, this 
will be provided, and reported to Committee. 

 

Panel 3 Members: 
  
Mr R.G. Kybird (Chairman) 
Mrs S.R. Miller (Vice-Chairman) 
Mr G.P. Balaam 
Mr P.J. Duigan 
Mrs D.K.R. Irving 
 

Mr R. Kemp 
Mr J.P. Labouchere 
Mr B. Rose 
Mr F.J. Sharpe 
Mr M. Spencer 
 

 

 
 
Member Services 

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING 

ARE REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE ARE REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE ARE REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE ARE REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE 

TELEPHONESTELEPHONESTELEPHONESTELEPHONES    

Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: Friday, 28 November 2008  
 

Public Document Pack



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
9 December 2008 

 

 

2 

PART A 
 

ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 
 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

 

1. MINUTES  1 - 10 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 16 September 2008.  
 

 

2. APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence.  
 

 

3. URGENT BUSINESS   

 Members are asked at this stage to declare any interests that they may 
have in any of the following items on the agenda.  The Members’ Code of 
Conduct requires that declarations include the nature of the interest and 
whether it is a personal or prejudicial interest.  
 

 

4. DECLARATION OF INTEREST   

 Members are asked at this stage to declare any interests they may have 
in any of the following items on the agenda.  The Members’ Code of 
Conduct requires that declarations include the nature of the interest and 
whether it is a personal or prejudicial interest.  
 

 

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   

 To note the names of any non-members wishing to address the meeting.  
 

 

6. AVIAN INFLUENZA  11 - 13 

 Report by Morag McGillivray, Civil Contingencies Officer.  
 

 

7. FINANCIAL INCLUSION STRATEGY  14 - 40 

 Presentation by Darryl Smith, Principal Housing Officer (Strategy and 
Enabling).  
 

 

8. FINAL MEETING   

 This meeting is the last Policy Development and Review Panel 3 for 2008 
and the last one of its kind before being replaced by dedicated Task & 
Finish Groups.  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
9 December 2008 

 

 

3 

PROTOCOL 
 

The Working Style of the Policy Development & Review Panels 
 

This document sets out the roles of Members and Officers, and the general principles to be adopted 
by the Policy Development & Review Panels (PD&RP) overseeing the Panel’s mode of operation. 
 
Member Leadership 
Members of the Panel will undertake scrutiny topics as directed by the Overview & Scrutiny 
Commission (O&SC) and will recognise that best practice identifies scrutiny as a Member-led activity. 
The Panel will expect Cabinet members, to take responsibility for answering their questions about 
topics which primarily relate to the Council’s activities. 
 
A Constructive Atmosphere 
Meetings of the Panel will be constructive and not judgmental. Panel recognises and accepts that 
effective scrutiny is best achieved through challenging and constructive enquiry. People giving 
evidence at Panel should be given due respect and not made to feel under attack. 
 
Independence  
Members of the PD&RP will not be subject to whipping arrangements by the party groups. 
 
Respect and Trust 
Meetings will be conducted in a spirit of mutual respect and trust. 
 
Consensus 
Members of the Panel will work together and, while recognising political allegiances, will attempt to 
achieve consensus and agreed recommendations. There will be recognition that the Panel has a 
primary duty to scrutinise on behalf of the community. 
 
Openness and Transparency 
The PD&RP’s business will be open and transparent, except where there are sound reasons for 
protecting confidentiality. The minutes of the Panel’s meetings will explain the discussion and debate 
so that they can be understood by an outside reader. 
 
Impartial and Independent Officer Advice 
Officers who advise and support the Panel will give impartial and independent advice, as officers 
support all members of the Council. 
 
Regular Review 
There will be regular reviews of how the scrutiny process is working, and a willingness to change if it 
is not working effectively. 
 
Programming and Planning  
The Panel will have a programme of work assigned by the Overview & Scrutiny Commission. The 
Panel will be able to suggest additional topics for review through the O&SC for approval in the work 
programme. Before each topic is commenced, the O&SC will agree the scope of the exercise, what 
information they will need initially, and which members, officers and external witnesses they wish to 
see. 
 
Managing Time 
The Panel will aim to conclude the business of each meeting in reasonable time. The order of 
business will be arranged as far as possible to minimise the demands on the time of witnesses. 
Where possible, members should give advance notice of specific questions being provided at the time 
of the meeting to save items being deferred. 
 



1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND REVIEW PANEL 3 
 

Held on Tuesday, 16 September 2008 at 10.00 am in 
The Norfolk Room, Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham 

 
PRESENT  
Mr R.G. Kybird (Chairman) 
Mrs S.R. Howard-Alpe (Vice-Chairman) 
Mr G.P. Balaam 
Mr P.J. Duigan 
Mrs D.K.R. Irving 
 

Mr R. Kemp 
Mr J.P. Labouchere 
Mr B. Rose 
Mr M. Spencer 
 

 
Also Present  
Clark Rennie Assistant Director for Commissioning 

(NHS Norfolk) 
Oliver Clark Project Manager for Clarkson Business 

Services 
 

In Attendance  
John Walker Principal Officer - Housing Advice and 

Homelessness 
Anita Brennan Strategic Housing Manager 
Julie Britton Senior Member Services Officer 
Darryl Smith Principal Housing Officer (Strategy and 

Enabling) 
 
 
 Action By 

31/08 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1)   

  

 The Minutes of the meeting held on 29 July 2008 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Vice-Chairman who had chaired that 
particular meeting. 
 
Housing Performance and Improvement Plan – Monitoring Report July 
2008 (Minute No. 25/08) 
 
The Vice-Chairman was pleased to inform Members that the 
recommendation had been supported by Cabinet at its meeting on 9 
September 2008. 
 
Leisure PFI Update (Minute No. 26/08) 
 
The Vice-Chairman was most concerned that Panel Members had not 
been informed of the Quest results for Thetford Leisure Centre as 
requested in the resolution.    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Riana 
Rudland 

   

32/08 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2)   

  

 Apologies for absence were received from Mr F Sharpe and Mr M 
Broughton.  
 

 

   

Agenda Item 1

1



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
16 September 2008 

 
 

2 

 Action By 

33/08 SMOKE FREE COMPLIANCE (AGENDA ITEM 6)   

  

 Oliver Clark, the Project Manager for Clarkson Business Services, gave a 
presentation on Smoke Free Compliance.  
 
Under the direction of Nigel Burrows, the Council’s Environmental Health 
Officer, a needs assessment on the implications of smoke free 
compliance and the introduction of policies, had been undertaken. 
 
120 businesses in the Breckland area had been selected and 110 
premises had been visited.  Each business had been provided with a 
Compliance Survey form to complete. 
 
The questions and findings from the survey were as follows: 
 

• Does this site comply with smoke free legislation? 
 

Response - 97/99% compliance 
 
Lack of signage was the only reason for the small amount of non-
compliance.  To remedy this, further signage had been supplied. 

 

• Have you had any problems with compliance? 
 

Response – a small number of licensed premises had reported a 
loss of trade. 
 
It had been found that those that had erected appropriate smoking 
shelters had continued with normal trade.   

 

• Any further assistance required to aid compliance? 
 

Response – nothing else requested. 
 

• Do you have a smoke free policy for the business? 
 

Response – majority, no. 
 

It had been found that businesses such as food manufacturing 
plants, large haulage firms and larger chains of hotels had their 
own policies.  The remainder were introduced to a universal policy 
that could be downloaded from the following website: 
www.smokefreeengland.co.uk 

 

• Does your policy exceed the minimum requirements (i.e. in 
the car park, grounds etc)? 

 
Response - No (98%) 
 
Those that had exceeded the minimum requirements were food 
processing plants and St Luke’s Mental Health Unit. 
 
The Chairman asked whether anyone had tried to enforce an 
outside smoking ban.  In response, Members were informed that it 
was the management of the business that could decide whether 
outside areas should be smoke free.  A Member pointed out that 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
16 September 2008 

 
 

3 

 Action By 

the Norfolk & Norwich Hospital, which had banned all smoking 
inside and out of the premises before the legislation came into 
effect, had now removed most of its outside no smoking signs. 

 

• Do you have a smoking shelter? 
 

Response – a small number of licensed premises had smoking 
shelters; the legal requirement was that more than 50% of the wall 
area had to be left open.  All of those checked had been compliant 
and had kept the business going. 

 

• Correct signage? 
 

Response – 97-99% were compliant. 
 
The different sized signs for different areas and vehicles were 
explained.  The 110 premises that had been visited were supplied 
with the correct signage and were all now fully compliant. 
 

Members were informed that pre: July 2007, Breckland Council had 
arranged five open days in each of the market towns to advise the public 
on the new smoking arrangements.  The response had been excellent 
and Breckland Council had been complimented on the information that 
had been provided. 
 

• Are company vehicles smoke free? 
 

Many questions had been raised with regard to this matter, such 
as:  
 

Ø Did a vehicle have to be classed as smoke free if another 
colleague (who smoked) used the vehicle in question once 
a month?   

 
Ø How can you keep check on your drivers out of the area? 

 
 Again, this was down to the management to assess. 
 

• Do you have any staff members/residents that smoke? 
 

Response – approximately 30% 
 
An interesting observation to note was that since 1st July 2007 
many people had stopped smoking. 

 

• What provision do you have to encourage staff/clients to stop 
smoking? 

 
Response – very little offered. 
 
A small amount of information had been provided in care homes or 
mental health units.  The leaflets/posters provided encouraged 
smokers to visit “cignificant” – Norfolk’s Stop Smoking Services. 

 
In concluding the presentation, it was noted that compliance of the 
smoking ban had been excellent, and many people had expressed the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
16 September 2008 

 
 

4 

 Action By 

helpfulness of Breckland Council compared to other councils in the area 
and had appreciated the visits. 
 
A Member felt that the legislation for displaying of non-smoking signs was 
over the top and suggested that now the legislation had been embedded 
most signs should be removed.  He particularly referred to historic 
buildings such as churches. 
 
Members were informed that some Travel Lodges had re-introduced 
smoking rooms and asked what the legal criterion was for this.  In 
response, Oliver Clark explained that it was allowed if they met the 
following specific criteria: 
 

• The management of the premises would have to have a letter 
specifying which rooms allowed smoking.  It was against the law 
to use it as a smoking room one week and a non-smoking room 
another week. 

 

• Signs had to be displayed on the entrance door of the relevant 
rooms. 

 

• The rooms had to be provided with their own ventilation system, 
which could not be connected to the main system. 

 
A Member asked whether the Council would be entitled to demand that 
smoking shelters be erected for all of its commercial premises.  Oliver 
Clark felt that this could be seen as an encouragement to smoke. 
 
The Chairman suggested that an article be placed in a future edition of 
Breckland Voice about the success of the smoking ban. 
 
Oliver Clark was thanked for his presentation. 
 
A copy of the presentation is attached for Members’ information. 
 
RESOLVED that  
 

1) the Panel notes the presentation and the successful results; and 
 
2) the Overview and Scrutiny Commission be asked to place an 

article in a future edition of Breckland Voice about the success of 
the smoking ban in Breckland.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Elaine 
Wilkes/ 
Robert 
Leigh 
 
 

   

34/08 GP LED HEALTH CENTRES IN RURAL AREAS (POLYCLINICS) 
(AGENDA ITEM 7)  

 

  

 Clive Rennie, the Assistant Director for Commissioning (NHS Norfolk), 
was in attendance for this item.  A presentation was provided and had 
been attached to the Minutes for information. 
 
The historical background was explained.  Ministers had reaffirmed that 
there should be at least one GP Led Health Centre in each PCT area.  On 
23 November 2007, Ministers had announced a list of 38 PCTs that would 
receive additional funding to procure 100 new GP practices. 
 
For each locality there was no prescribed national specification for the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
16 September 2008 

 
 

5 

 Action By 

services provided.  For any new services, the money had to be spent on 
new provision, not existing provision. 
 
In Norfolk, as per other PCT areas, investment was for additional capacity 
i.e. extra GPs, nurses and support staff. 
 
In March 2007, Norwich had been identified as the preferred location 
based on criteria set by the Department of Health i.e. deprivation, 
population etc for the first GP Led Health Centre.  Consideration had to 
be given to developing more in other areas of Norfolk. As part of the 
development of the GP Led Health Centre, NHS Norfolk had agreed to re-
provide the Dussindale Centre in the East side of Norwich into the new 
centre.  The major rational for this re-provision was that a more central 
location was required to provide equity of access for all residents of the 
greater Norwich and for commuters and also to target the most deprived 
areas of Norwich.  Anyone could register with this Practice within the 
designated catchment area of Greater Norwich; however, if you lived 
outside the catchment area, you would not be able to register with the 
practice but you would be able to receive services as a “walk-in” patient.  
Clive Rennie then explained how the process worked with medical 
records if someone registered with a GP Led Health Centre as well as 
their own GP. 
 
Some Polyclinics, typically London based, could almost be described as 
‘mini hospitals’ with services including MRI scanners.  Urgent care could 
be provided. A Member asked whether urgent care would still be located 
in the hospitals accident & emergency department.  He also wished to 
know what GP led stood for - if it wasn’t GP led, was it nurse led?  In 
response, Clive Rennie advised that nurses could only carry out the 
service up to a certain point, beyond that, the Doctor had to take 
responsibility.  It was much more cost effective to attend a walk-in centre 
rather than an A&E but the decision to attend the walk-in or A&E should 
be based on clinical severity of the presenting condition.  
 
The Chairman felt that it would be a good idea to have a Polyclinic 
situated in every market town and he asked how it had been justified in 
clinical terms, to have the one and only Polyclinic in Norwich.  It was 
explained that it was not clinically a better service, it was more about 
choice and the basis of the siting of the GP Led Health Centre in Norwich 
had been based on a number of criteria; one of the main ones being 
deprivation.  The GP Led Health Centre in Norwich would be judged on 
how it worked, and how cost effective it was before any possible roll out to 
other areas. 
 
Members were informed that to help alleviate the current problems, such 
as having to wait weeks for an appointment, Doctors had been given the 
opportunity, via a cost enhanced service specification form Norfolk NHS, 
based on a national specification from the Department of Health, to 
extend their current service hours to include opening their surgeries on 
week day nights and/or Saturday mornings.   
 
Referring to the Local Development Framework (LDF), a Member 
questioned the Primary Care Trust’s (PCTs) commitment concerning 
forward planning with other stakeholders.  He felt that it would be useful 
for Breckland’s planners to be informed whether potential sites in town 
centres could be identified during the LDF process.  In defence, Clive 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
16 September 2008 

 
 

6 

 Action By 

Rennie explained that the PCT had been heavily involved with the local 
authority for the Norwich development regarding transportation routes and 
population demographics. 
 
Members then discussed the Thetford town centre site that originally 
housed a cottage hospital which, in their opinion, would be an ideal place 
for a GP Led Health Centre to be situated.  They were disappointed that 
the PCT was trying to sell the site for further housing development.   
 
It was understood that Norwich was the biggest urban area in Norfolk but 
at what point did a town become big enough to sustain a Centre?  
Members felt that the PCT should consider more remote areas. 
 
RECOMMEND that  
 
1) the Overview and Scrutiny Commission requests that the PCT, 

responsible for the people of Norfolk, provide an interactive map on 
its website, highlighting where these services were or would be 
situated, including the catchment areas; and 

 
2) the Environmental Planning Manager, be asked to attend a future 

Panel meeting to discuss forward planning for Polyclinics sites.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Elaine 
Wilkes 
 
 
 
 
Andrea 
Long 

   

35/08 MONITORING OF HOMELESS STRATEGY ACTION PLAN (AGENDA 
ITEM 8)  

 

  

 The Principal Officer for Housing and Homelessness presented the 
report. 
 
The Strategy Action Plan was reviewed every year.  The review helped 
the Council to understand where it was in terms of homelessness in the 
District.  The detail helped the Council to understand what the actions 
were and whether these actions were still relevant. 
 
This year, the review had been undertaken by Oliver Lawer, the recently 
appointed Housing Officer for Strategy and Development.  What had been 
found was that the Council needed to do more for younger people and to 
diversify its temporary accommodation portfolio. 
 
The volume of homelessness in Breckland had not increased for 
temporary accommodation but had increased with the recent ‘credit 
crunch’. 
 
The Chairman asked whether there would be a Cabinet Member 
introduction paper included with the Action Plan.  The Panel was 
reminded that the document had not been adopted by Cabinet; however, 
when the full re-write of the Strategy had been completed it would be 
presented to Cabinet for adoption. 
 
A number of spelling errors in the document were highlighted. 
 
There was no mention of Rough Sleepers in the document and a Member 
asked whether the Council would be undertaking a further count.  In 
response, the Housing Officer advised that the amount of rough sleepers 
in Breckland had increased.   The Government had suggested that local 
authorities should undertake such counts every five years; however, it 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
16 September 2008 

 
 

7 

 Action By 

was felt that it would be in the Council’s best interest, in the light of the 
current financial climate, that a further count be organised before the 
winter months. By completing this task, the Council could establish what 
services it ought to be providing for such persons.  Some immigrants 
were not eligible for this service but if there was greater evidence the 
Council could lever more resources to help these people.   
 
The Chairman asked that the rough sleeping element be added to the 
document. 
 
Members were informed that the Council had a fund that was used for on 
the spot payments to prevent homelessness in Breckland.  In response to 
a question with regard to the credit crunch and whether there had been 
extra provisions put aside, the Principal Housing Officer advised that the 
Housing Team had a good relationship with a particular Citizens Advice 
Bureau which would be offering extensive money advice to those who 
needed it.  Further to this, the Government had announced that a 
Mortgage Rescue Scheme was being introduced.  Further information 
was awaited and the Housing Team would be attending the forthcoming 
conference that had been set up for this purpose.  As there had been 115 
outright mortgage repossessions so far this year, an article about credit 
debt and how to overcome it had been included in the recent edition of 
Breckland Voice.  There were also many self help clinics on the website. 
 
Referring to the Homelessness budget, the Strategic Housing Manager 
informed the Panel that there was a healthy prevention pot.  The Team 
would be looking at how it could cope with the credit crunch element as 
well as ensuring that the Council’s resources were spent wisely. 
 
 
A Member realised the hard work that had been carried out by the 
Housing Team and was pleased to announce that at the recent 
Homelessness Conference, Breckland Council had been the envy of 
other authorities.  The Team was congratulated. 
 
RESOLVED that the rough sleeping element be added and the report 
with the amendments to the Strategy be noted.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John Walker 
 
 

   

36/08 HOUSING WAITING LIST - ALLOCATIONS POLICY AND CHOICE 
BASE LETTINGS (AGENDA ITEM 9)  

 

  

 The Principal Housing Officer (Strategy and Enabling) was in attendance 
for this item.  Members were briefed on the Housing contract and the 
Housing Register which went live in July 2007. 
 
The new partnership between Breckland Council and ARP Trading Ltd to 
operate and administer the Breckland Housing Register from July 2007 
had been the first step in a series of changes designed to improve the 
way in which the service was delivered. 
 
There were currently 3016 people on the Housing Register.  Each 
housing application took, on average, 8 days to process (the contractual 
time limit was 7 days).  Since April 2008, 349 vacant dwellings had been 
made available to rent.  These vacancies accounted for a high number of 
newly built social housing.  Additionally, on a number of private 
developments some housing had been passed over to social landlords 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
16 September 2008 

 
 

8 

 Action By 

and housing that was already socially owned was becoming available due 
to private purchases and shared ownerships schemes. 
 
The contract seemed to be working well, and as part of the process, ARP 
had to produce monthly newsletters for all applicants on the Breckland 
Housing Register.  These newsletters provided advice and information on 
various housing related matters. 
 
A presentation on Choice Base Lettings was then provided. 
 
There was a Government target for every local authority to have a Choice 
Base Lettings Scheme in place by 2010. 
 
As an example, the presentation had been based on another local 
authority’s site that was already being used which provided Members with 
a flavour of what the Breckland site would eventually look like. 
 
The introduction of the Choice Base Lettings Scheme was the second 
step of a series of changes and was considered to be the most 
substantial improvement.  This internet based scheme allowed people to 
register an interest in an individual property.  The information could be 
easily accessed on what homes were available and where, together with 
key details about the property itself e.g. photographs, the number of 
bedrooms, the rent to be charged and council tax banding.    New 
properties would include floor plans and a map link would also be made 
available. There had been lots of support and assistance in the 
development of this process.   A language facility would also be provided. 
 
Every applicant would have their own login name, and as well as housing 
information, the site would also be linked to homelessness advice.  
Eligibility would be limited; for example, a single person could not bid for a 
three bed house. 
 
Applicants could then ‘bid’ to be considered for a property within their 
‘band’.  The priority ‘bandings’ were explained and a paper was circulated 
for information. Members noted that the banding system was much easier 
than the current points system.  A person would have to have a local 
connection before a ‘banding’ could be given.  Many checks would be 
carried out to ascertain whether that person did indeed have a local 
connection.  
 
The Choice Base Lettings Scheme offered a variety of bidding and 
information platforms including the use of the internet, text message and 
free bidding hotline numbers.  It was estimated that there would be 
around 100 to 150 bids for each property.  The top three bidders would be 
highlighted and each would be looked at by the Housing Association once 
the bidding had been completed.  There had to be very good reasons why 
someone at the top had not been successful.  The bidding process would 
be closely monitored so that favouritism‘(cherry picking)’ from the 
Council’s partners could not take place. 
 
The Chairman asked how long it took for an applicant to get to the top of 
the waiting list.  The Panel was informed that it took around three months 
but for those people who had urgent housing need an emergency card 
would be issued and that they would take priority. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
16 September 2008 

 
 

9 

 Action By 

Affordable housing stock was a very precious commodity so it was very 
important to ensure that the right people were allocated the right property.   
 
There would also be a specific page for disabled properties; this would 
ensure that, through the bidding system, the right needs would be met. 
 
The Principal Housing Officer stated that a final report and presentation 
would be given to the Cabinet meeting on 14th October.  It was anticipated 
that the Choice Base Lettings Scheme would be live by 31st December in 
time for New Year applications. 
 
The Executive Support Member responsible for the Housing and 
Economic Portfolio said that part of her brief was to look at the system 
from a customer point of view.  However, at a recent meeting of the 
Member Development Panel it had been suggested that all Members 
should have Choice Base Lettings training.  
 
The Chairman asked that the scheme be brought back to the Panel in 
March 2009 for a review to assess the robustness of the scheme and the 
verification process. 
 
The Housing Team was congratulated. 
 
RESOLVED that  
 
1) the Overview & Scrutiny Commission recommend the approval of 

the Choice Base Lettings Scheme system as it had been well 
designed and had potential to work well in the communities; and 

 
2) the scheme be reviewed by the Panel in March 2009.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Elaine 
Wilkes 
 
 
Mark 
Broughton 

   

37/08 WORK PROGRAMME (AGENDA ITEM 10)   

  

 A revised work programme was circulated and noted. 
 
The Panel raised concern that all future meetings listed were being held 
in Dereham and not around the District as previously agreed.  This matter 
would be raised with the Member Development and Scrutiny Officer. 
 
It was agreed to add the following items to the work programme: 
 

• Choice Base Lettings Scheme review – March 2009 

• Forward Planning for Polyclinic sites in the Breckland area – date 
to be arranged. 

  

 
 
 
 
Mark 
Broughton 
 
 
 

   

38/08 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 11)   

  

 The arrangements for the next meeting on Tuesday, 21 October 2008 
were noted.  

All to Note 

   

 
 
The meeting closed at 12.45 pm 
 
 

9



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
16 September 2008 

 
 

10 

 Action By 

 
CHAIRMAN 

10



BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 
Report of the Strategic Director - Services to the 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND REVIEW PANEL 3 – 9th DECEMBER 2008 
 
Avian Influenza 
 

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 This report for information provides members with the background, processes and 
responsibilities involved in managing an outbreak of Avian Flu in the District of 
Breckland. 

 

 

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 Report for member information and update as requested. 

 
Note:  In preparing this report, due regard has been had to equality of opportunity, 
human rights, prevention of crime and disorder, environmental and risk management 
considerations as appropriate.  Relevant officers have been consulted in relation to any 
legal, financial or human resources implications and comments received are reflected in 
the report. 
 

3. Information, Issues and Options 

3.1 Background 

 Avian Influenza is a highly infectious viral disease affecting the respiratory, digestive 
and/or nervous system of many species of birds.  It is one of the most important 
poultry diseases, and first occurred in the UK in Norfolk in 2006. 

 The severity of disease depends upon the strain of the virus and the type of bird 
infected.  Some strains are knows as ‘highly pathogenic avian influenza’ (HPAI) and 
these viruses have the potential to cause severe disease in poultry, some associated 
with a high death rate (up to 100%).  The disease can develop so rapidly that birds 
may die without showing any previous signs of disease. 

 Other strains known as ‘low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) viruses usually result 
in milder, less significant disease.  However, certain LPAI viruses can mutate into 
highly pathogenic strains. 

3.1.1 Human Health Concerns 

 Avian Influenza is a contagious disease that normally affects birds; less commonly 
pigs and other mammals. 

 Transmission of avian influenza viruses to people remains relatively rare and in most 
cases occurs as a result of direct contact with infected poultry/other birds or their 
faeces.  Faecal material can contaminate dust, soil, water, feed, equipment, clothing 
and feathers. 

 Public health control measures in any outbreak of avian influenza amongst poultry 
will aim to protect people against avian influenza and also protect against the risk of 
genetic re-assortment of the virus.  There is concern that the virus may change (re-
assort or mutate) to emerge as a new virus that is transmissible between people, 
and capable of causing disease in people, birds and other animals.  This possible 
mutation has not developed at to date. 

 
3.1.2 Role of Breckland Council 
 
 As Avian Influenza (AI) is an infectious disease in birds and not people, the local and 

Agenda Item 6

11



national lead for AI outbreaks lies with NCC(TS), (Norfolk County Council  (Trading 
Standards)) DEFRA (Department for the Environment, Food  and Rural Affairs) and 
the SVS (State Veterinary Service).  

 
 Breckland Council will provide the following support and assistance during an 

outbreak whilst ensuring the needs of the local community are provided for: 
 

• Advise on environmental health issues 

• Arrange temporary accommodation for persons made homeless as a result of the 
incident 

• Provide Investigating and Enforcement Officers under the provision of the Food and 
Environment Protection Act 1989, if requested by the Department of Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) 

• Liaise with Norfolk County Council Communications Department and other 
authorities or organisations involved in the incident to ensure co-ordination of 
information to the news media and our citizens 

• Provide a representative at the multi-agency media centre if outbreak in our area 

• In partnership with NCC Communications Department establish a public 
information/communication network using the Customer Service Centre, Council 
Information centres and any other appropriate community facilities  

• Provide resources if required/feasible to assist trading Standards in carrying out 
enforcement under Avian Influenza legislation 

• Participate in any protocols concerning the disposal of dead wild animals 

• Participate in any strategic or tactical group held at County level  

• Notify residents in affected area 

• Identify roads to be signed with road signage 

• Distribute information leaflets and posters at public information points to inform, 
reassure and advise residents.  Repeat information on Council website 

 
A copy of NCC Avian Influenza Contingency Plan is held by Breckland Council’s Civil 
Contingencies Officer and can be viewed by arrangement.  

3.2. Small Holding and Private Garden Poultry Risks 

3.2.1 DEFRA have produced a guidance document for bringing birds indoors in the event 

of confirmation of disease following consultation with the poultry industry, veterinary 

and welfare stakeholders; this advice is available from their website.  If an outbreak 

in Breckland occurred over a wide area our staff would be utilised to find domestic 

and small scale poultry sites to ensure birds are housed to prevent infection and 

spread via wild bird contact. 

3.3 Options 

3.3.1 To accept this information report.  

3.3.2     To require further clarification or additional specific reports on Avian Influenza. 

3.4 Reasons for Recommendation(s) 

3.4.1 To note the report for information.. 

4. Risk and Financial Implications 

4.1 Risk  

4.1.1 I have completed the Risk Management questionnaire and can confirm that risk has 
been given careful consideration, and that there are no significant risks identified 
associated with the information in this report. 

12



4.2 Financial  

4.2.1 No financial implications for this report. 

5. Legal Implications 

5.1 No legal implications for this report 

6. Other Implications    

a) Equalities: No equalities implications for this report 

b) Section 17, Crime & Disorder Act 1998: , No implications 

c) Section 40, Natural Environment & Rural Communities Act 2006:  No 
implications 

d) Human Resources:  No implications for this report 

e) Human Rights:  No implications for this report 

f) Other:  [e.g. Children’s Act 2004] No implications for this report 

7. Alignment to Council Priorities 

7.1 Building safer and stronger Communities 

7.2  Environment 

7.3 Prosperous communities 

8. Ward/Community Affected 

8.1 All or some Wards and Communities in Breckland have the potential to be affected 
in an outbreak of Avian Influenza. 

 
Lead Contact Officer: 
Name/Post: Morag McGillivray, Civil Contingencies Officer 
Telephone: 01362 656351 
Email: morag.mcgillivray@breckland.gov.uk 
 
 

13



hBreckland Council 

financial inclusion strategy
and action plan 
2008-11

SECOND DRAFT 

Agenda Item 7

14



Breckland Council Financial Inclusion Strategy

Ref Contents Page

1 introduction 3

2 what is financial inclusion? 4

3 the national context 6

4 national facts about financial exclusion 9

5 national facts about  financial capability 11

6 the local context 12

7 Breckland’s current Financial inclusion activity 16

8 what will a financial inclusion strategy achieve? 18

9 glossary of terms 22

10 financial Inclusion Action Plan 24

2

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 15



1. Introduction 

‘While the majority enjoy access to an ever-increasing range of financial products, a small but 
significant minority of people are unable to access even the simplest of financial services. For 
these people, financial exclusion means significant additional cost and loss of opportunity’ 

1.1 Introduction 

Breckland is one of the largest rural districts in England and one of the most sparsely populated. 
About 50% of the population live in the 5 market towns – Attleborough, Dereham, Thetford, 
Swaffham and Watton - and the other 50% is spread across 107 rural parishes, some with a 
population of less than 100. Whilst as a rule the majority of people in rural areas have household 
incomes that exceed the national average (if generally not by much), there are households on 
low incomes living dispersed amongst relative affluence.  

In the current financial climate many people are finding it difficult to access appropriate financial 
products and services to live their day to day lives. They struggle to obtain affordable credit or 
helpful financial advice and face barriers in opening and operating bank accounts. Financial 
exclusion affects the lives of many Breckland residents; it increases the costs they pay for basic 
services; it makes them vulnerable to illegal or high-cost lending; it continues to create social 
exclusion within our communities. In addition to the basic financial advice residents also need to 
consider their skill levels and opportunities in the workplace. Tackling unemployment and skill 
shortages within the workforce will improve the financial aspirations of our community. As a rural 
local authority, we face the challenge of ensuring our residents have access to services across 
our large district and ensure they have the knowledge to be able to take full advantage of a 
competitive financial market and the skills to be able to budget effectively. 

Breckland Council believes financial inclusion needs to be tackled through an effective and 
coherent strategy to promote financial inclusion which will make a substantial contribution to 
reducing poverty. We believe the key to effective action has to be collaboration and coordination 
of activities between stakeholders at our local level. This will include Credit Unions, Citizens 
Advice Bureaux, Voluntary Organisations, Financial Service Advisers, Banks and Building 
Societies, Insurers, Registered Social Landlords, Warmfront, The Rural Community Council, and 
any other organisation that can contribute towards greater financial inclusion. Breckland Council 
has a key role in managing this process and our financial inclusion strategy is the framework for 
this.

3
Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 16



2. What is financial inclusion? 

‘Access for individuals to appropriate financial products and services; this includes people having 
the skills, knowledge and understanding to make best use of those products and services. 
Financial exclusion is often a symptom of poverty as well as a cause’ 

2.2 Financial Inclusion is made up of two elements; 

Financial exclusion; describes an individual’s ability to access appropriate financial products 
and services.  

Financial capability; encompasses the skills that people have to budget and plan for the future, 
their attitudes to money and financial institutions.  

2.3 Financially excluded and/or those not financially capable can be affected in the following ways: 

Bank Accounts: vulnerable individuals can find it difficult to obtain bank accounts.  Even 
when bank accounts are established, individuals have to understand how to use their account 
to avoid unnecessary bank charges. Where some bank accounts are available, they are 
usually subject to monthly charges. Some people can also find it difficult to get a bank 
account without sufficient identification. Individuals who have no access to banking services 
can have difficulty in paying bills, using direct debits (which can often reduce utility costs) and 
find it difficult to build a credit rating. Not having a bank account can also affect the persons 
ability to gain employment as many employers will require an account for wages to be paid. 

Personal Credit: vulnerable individuals can find it difficult to obtain affordable personal 
credit.. The forms of personal credit being available to them might be loans at extortionate 
interest or from illegal money lenders where the repercussions for non payment are very 
serious.

Insurance: vulnerable individuals can have difficulties accessing affordable insurance 
products, particularly home contents insurance. When an incident occurs, it can lead to 
individuals increasing their credit commitments to compensate, making cut backs or simply 
having to cope with the situation they are left in. 

Savings: many individuals on lower incomes can find it difficult to accumulate savings. Other 
individuals do not save simply because they do not understand the importance of keeping 
money aside This means that when unexpected expenditure arises they often have to 
increase their credit commitments As short term credit often comes with a very high APR, this 
can pose a real problem financially, with some cutting back on essential commitments to pay 
their debt. 

Advice: individuals can find it difficult to get simple and independent explanations of financial 
services and easy access to money management information. It can be because they don’t 
know where to look or don’t have access to advice centers in their local area. This can lead to 
them avoiding dealing with financial issues and them becoming a much larger issue with 
more serious consequences. 

Tenancy/Mortgage sustainability: some individuals can lose their tenancy or have their 
home repossessed as a result of poor budgeting. It may be because they have too many 
outgoings to sustain all their commitments or they might have enough income, but are not 
able to prioritise what are essential items to pay. It may also be because they are faced with 
unexpected expenditure and are unable to obtain short term credit to sustain all their costs. 
Mortgage holders may also lose their home because their fixed rate comes to an end and 
they are unable to remortgage at a equal or lower interest rate, increasing monthly payments. 

4

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 17



In some cases people do not feel non-payment of rent/mortgage payments will result in 
eviction.

Home ownership: house prices have dramatically increased in recent years and more and 
more individuals are struggling to buy a home. Individuals can find it difficult to raise deposits 
or simply not afford the mortgage repayments. The credit crunch has also reduced the 
number of mortgages available. 

Fuel Poverty: as fuel prices increase, more and more families find they need to obtain credit 
to buy sufficient fuel for winter. Problems can arise when customers cannot get access to 
short term credit at affordable interest, are not capable of budgeting for the increase in price 
or are not aware/not claiming benefits which may alleviate some of the financial burden. 
Households may also not be aware of Government schemes which will contribute to the cost 
of better insulation for their home.  

2.4 The issues surrounding financial exclusion and financial capability can have an impact on an 
individual’s lifestyle. These individuals may already be vulnerable and/or disadvantaged. For 
example, the impact for a customer that cannot access mainstream credit or does not understand 
the basis of APR, can be much greater.  

5

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 18



3. The national context 

‘Promoting financial inclusion requires action by a range of Government departments, including 
those involved in tackling poverty, protecting consumers and promoting employment and 
economic growth’ 

3.1 Access to credit has been increasing over the last 30 years, assisted by deregulation of the UK 
financial system in the 1980s and lead to highly competitive generic financial institutions 
emerging into the market place. This has been coupled with supermarkets  
and other major high street retailers that have increased the advertising of credit beyond 
recognition.  In 2002, the financial services sector accounted for 5.3 per cent of national 
income and the UK’s surplus in financial services trade was £17.8 billion, the largest in the 
world, which is more than twice that of the next biggest, Switzerland. 

 What is important to note is that while the majority have been able to access credit ever more 
easily over the last 20 to 30 years, a restriction in the financial market has been felt by some 
groups who lack access to even the most basic banking services. 

3.2 The 2004 HM Treasury document ‘Promoting Financial Inclusion’ sets out the establishment of 
a Financial Inclusion Fund to support initiatives to tackle financial exclusion, and a Financial 
Inclusion Taskforce to oversee progress. The document identifies three areas that the 
Government considers key to tackling financial exclusion, and where it is determined to see 
significant progress: 

 access to banking services

 access to affordable credit 

 access to free face-to-face money advice

 The Government has also established a framework for delivery called ‘Financial Inclusion - the 
way forward’ accompanied by a three year action plan 2008-2011.  

3.3 In rural communities, some of the evidence available appears to indicate that those in rural 
areas are at less risk of financial exclusion (or at least, some elements of it) than those in 
urban areas. For example, the Department of Work and Pensions commissioned report 
‘Characteristics of Families in Debt and the Nature of Indebtedness’, found that those in rural 
areas were less likely than other families to be in arrears on bills, housing or credit 
commitments. However, the Citizens Advice report,  ‘In Too Deep’ found that although rural 
clients owed less than the average for all CAB debt clients, their lower average income meant 
that their debt to income ratio was higher than the average for all debt clients. 

The Commission for Rural Communities report also looked at the accessibility of banks and 
building societies in rural areas. 

Post office branches provide a range of banking services, which prove pivitol for rural 
households. The programme of closing post offices means that some rural communities will 
be threatened with the loss of a vital resource and an increasingly important means of 
addressing financial exclusion. 

Credit unions are voluntary organisations that can offer affordable credit to individuals. Credit 
Unions typically find it difficult to operate in a sparsely populated area, because of the costs 
associated with travel times. 

Face-to-face financial advice is not offered in some rural areas because of a perceived lack 
of demand or the costs associated with delivering the service in such a large area. Residents 
in rural communities often have to travel to urban areas to seek advice, increasing their 
financial burden. 

6

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 19



Many agencies and companies have a part to play in working towards greater financial 
inclusion. Transact’s report ‘Making the link; engaging social landlords in financial inclusion’. 
shows how important registered social landlords are in achieving this, along with many other 
organisations, including Credit Unions, Citizens Advice Bureaux, Voluntary Organisations, 
Financial Service Advisers, Banks and Building Societies, Insurers, The Rural Community 
Council any other organisation that can contribute towards greater financial inclusion. 

3.4 Nationally, the Improvement and Development Agency (IDeA) have identified many good 
practice examples of promoting financial inclusion and tackling over-indebtednesses through 
their beacon scheme. Examples include, Leeds City Council, Sheffield City Council and South 
Tyneside Metropolitan Borough Council. Whilst these examples are excellent for how to tackle 
urban financial inclusion, there is currently no beacon for promoting financial inclusion in rural 
areas.

3.5 The map on the following page has been created by Experian, the credit reference agency to 
show the areas most affected by Financial Exclusion in England. The Government funding 
and support will be available for these champion areas in the near future. Norfolk has been 
identified as one of these locations.

7

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 20



8

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 21



4. National facts about financial exclusion

‘Doorstep lenders lent £1.5 billion to around 2.3 million customers in 2004. APRs vary from 
hundreds of percent to many thousands. Customers typically pay a total cost of credit of 
between £40 and £80 per £100’ 

4.1 ‘In or out?’ a report produced by the Financial Services Authority (FSA), provides some useful 
inside into the extent of financial exclusion.  

Financial Products: it is estimated that 1.5 million households (around 7%) lack any 
financial products at all and a further 4.4 million (around 20%) have little more than a bank 
account

Bank Account: between 6% and 9% of adults have no bank or building society account of 
any kind and between 15% and 23% of adults lack a current account 

Savings: 31–37% of households have no savings or investment products 

Pensions: 27% of employees have no occupational or private pension 

Credit: 29% have no access to credit from a mainstream provider 

Home Insurance: 20–26% of households have no home contents insurance 

Life Insurance: 45% of households have no life insurance cover 

The Association of British Insurers report ‘Access for all: Extending the reach of insurance 
protection’ shows that 35 per cent of people in very low-income households (less than 
£10,000 a year) have no insurance of any kind, compared to only five per cent of households 
with an average income (£15,000-£30,000) 

4.2 As part of its recent investigation into the home credit market, the Competition Commission 
has published findings on usage and estimated cost of non mainstream types of credit. 

Home credit companies, also referred to as doorstep lenders, lent £1.5 billion to around 2.3 
million customers in 2004. APRs vary from hundreds of percent to many thousands. 
Customers typically pay a total cost of credit of between £40 and £80 per £100. 

Agency mail order is one of the most popular sources of credit for those on low incomes – 
research shows that in 2004, over 20 per cent of low-income households had used this type of 
credit.

 Pawnbrokers are used by about 600,000 customers a year, who are required to deposit an 
item of value as security for a loan. The majority of loans are for a six-month redemption 
period, with interest rates of seven to 12 per cent a month. A loan of £200 over four months 
would cost around £56. An estimated 29 per cent of customers fail to recover the pawn. 

 Cheque cashers may advance money against a borrower’s cheque. Charges vary from £6 to 
£14 for a £100 cheque. There are around 400 cheque cashers in the UK with 1,500 outlets. 

 Sale and buy-back is a service offered by some lenders whereby the customer sells an item 
to the lender and can then buy it back at a higher price within a short period of time. 

 Rental purchase shops allow customers to spread the cost of buying goods, either by paying 
in weekly instalments or monthly by direct debit. The advertised APR is normally around 30 

9

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 22



per cent, however the good is often more expensive than on the high street. Customers are 
also strongly encouraged to take out insurance, which will add to the cost of the loan. 

4.3 In addition to these legal non-mainstream sources of credit, a minority of people are forced to 
resort to borrowing from illegal lenders. Research 19 has estimated that there are some 
165,000 UK households using illegal lenders, concentrated in areas of high crime and social 
problems that are often not served by legal home credit lenders. Borrowers on average pay a 
total cost of credit of £185 per £100 borrowed. Late or missed payments are frequently 
punished with disproportionate and often arbitrary charges, and the use of intimidation and 
violence to elicit payment are common. 

4.4 According to ‘Credit Action’ total UK personal debt at the end of August 2008 stood at £1,448 
billion. This has increased 6.2% in the last 12 months which equates to an increase of £83 
billion. ‘Citizens Advice’ have recorded a 3.1% increase in Consumer and debt enquiries. 

10

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 23



5. National facts about financial capability 

‘45% of those who said that they would be able to make ends meet if faced with a large drop 
in income had made no actual provision’ 

5.1 Extensive studies have been carried out about Financial Capability, The FSA’s report 
‘Measuring financial capability: an exploratory study’ has created a model for financial 
capability which drew on the ‘Adult financial capability framework’ and ‘Basic Skills Agency’,
supplemented by a considerable body of other research and literature. The model that 
emerged identifies three key elements that determine financial capability. These were: 

 Knowledge and understanding

 Skills

 Confidence and attitudes

These are influenced by a person’s experience and circumstances, and by their personality.  

5.2 In 2006, the FSA undertook the largest UK survey ever undertaken of financial capability
‘Financial Capability in the UK’: Establishing a Baseline’ found many people that: 

Fail to plan for the future: 70% of those questioned are making no personal provision to 
cover an unexpected drop in income 

Are not financially prepared for retirement: 81% of the pre-retired think that a state 
pension will not provide them with the standard of living they hope for in retirement but 
37% of these people have not made any additional pension provision 

Struggle to make ends meet: 1.5 million people say they are falling behind with bills or 
credit commitments (of which 500,000 say they have real financial problems), and almost 
three million more people (or two million households) say it is a constant struggle to keep 
up with commitments 

Do not shop around to choose the best financial product: 33% of people, who hold no 
more complex products than general insurance, bought their policy without comparing it to 
even one other product 

Do not understand the risks associated with financial services: 40% of people who 
own an equity ISA are not aware that its value fluctuates with stock market performance, 
and 15% of people who own a cash ISA think its value does 

Are ‘unduly optimistic’ about their financial situation: for example, 45% of those who 
said that they would be able to make ends meet if faced with a large drop in income had 
made no actual provision 

5.3 Problems can often arise when the partner of an elderly person dies suddenly. It can be the 
case that the remaining person has never dealt with finances before and they are not only 
faced with the day to day finances, but also the financial complexities that arise as a result of 
their partners death. 

11

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 24



6. The local context 

‘Experian’s research shows that Thetford-Abbey in Breckland is in the top 5% nationally in 
ward-based ranking for likely demand for third sector affordable credit’

6.1 Breckland is one of the largest rural districts in England and one of the most sparsely 
populated. About 50% of the population live in the 5 market towns – Attleborough, Dereham, 
Thetford, Swaffham and Watton - and the other 50% is spread across 107 rural parishes, 
some with a population of less than 100. Whilst as a rule the majority of people in rural areas 
have household incomes that exceed the national average (if generally not by much), there 
are households on low incomes living dispersed amongst relative affluence. Their presence is 
less easily detected in average statistics. The latest population has been estimated to be 
129,900 (mid-year population, national statistics) spread across 36 wards. Breckland 
continues to grow rapidly and currently has the third largest population in Norfolk.  

6.2 The East Anglia Development Agency (EEDA) has commissioned Rocket Science to research 
financial exclusion and financial capability in the East of England. The research found that of 
the 4.6 million working age people living in the East of England: 

 28% have no savings account

 4% have no current account

 13% have been refused credit in the past

 29% have no home contents insurance

 47% have no credit card

 Rocket Science state in their report that it is not possible to identify which members of the 
general population have a combination of the different measures identified above. However, 
an area based approach allows for a composite ranking of financial exclusion. According to 
this method they have identified where financial exclusion is most concentrated. There are 
624,400 people living in the 500 most financially excluded Lower Tier Super Output Areas 
(LSOAs) in the East of England. This represents approximately fourteen per cent of the total 
working age population for the region. 

6.3 Concentration of financial exclusion 

 In some areas, over 20% of the population have no current account

 Financial Exclusion is highest in urban areas; however

 There are also a small number of rural areas that feature amongst the most financially 
excluded LSOAs

6.4 ‘Norfolk Data Observatory’ provides some useful data which can be used to understand which 
groups may be affected by financial exclusion and how we compare nationally. The data below is 
based on the 2001 census and data collected as at August 2007. 

 Nearly 10% of Breckland households received less then £10,000 in 2007 compared to 8% 
nationally

 Breckland residents are paid the second lowest full time hourly rate in the country.

 Almost 22% of Breckland’s population, compared to over 29% nationally, aged 16-59 were 
claiming for one or more of the following reasons; sick and disabled, unemployed, 
housing/council tax benefit, income support, jobseekers allowance

6.5 Research conducted on the 2001 Census concludes that; 

 3% of 16-74 year olds in Breckland were unemployed

 Over 33% had no qualifications

 6% of 16-18 year olds were NEET (not in employment, education or training)

12

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 25



6.6 Research has also been conducted using ACORN lifestyle classification for Breckland and shows 
that out of the 56,425 households in Breckland; 

 52% are well off (group 1 & 2) 

 36% are comfortably off  (group 3 & 4) 

 12% are hard pressed (group 5)  

Further analysis shows within group 5 

 8% are struggling families (group 5N) 

 3% burdened singles (group 5O) 

6.7 Breckland does not escape the presence of illegal money lenders and what are referred to as 
non-high street lenders. Norfolk Credit Union found that also found that on recent Housing 
Association applications; more then 50% have high APR loans.  Customers will not only turn to 
these types of lenders because they cannot obtain credit from main street lenders but also simply 
because the amount they wish to borrow is too low for Banks to assist. The cost to administer a 
loan for a low amount is often too high for Banks to consider it. 

6.8 There are also many sites that residents can choose to borrow from, which while legal, have very 
high APR’s. Often short term loans, otherwise known as Payday loans can have percentage 
rates in the thousands. A customer could borrow £500 because their car went wrong and they 
needed to get it fixed in order to get to work and pay back in excess of £600 on their payday. 
These sites will often advertise to customers that they can make instant decisions within minutes 
and will take customers will a poor credit rating. Some companies will also offer secured loans 
which create larger problems and risks to a customers property if they fail to make repayments. 

6.9 More and more families are finding themselves in mortgage difficulties in Breckland. Our Housing 
Advice and Homelessness Team have experienced a 78% increase in mortgage arrears related 
enquiries compared to the same period last year (1st April – 18th September). 

6.10 Breckland has a higher then average share of the manufacturing industry with 11.6% of the 
employed workforce working in processes like plant and machine operative (‘Breckland 
Economic Prosperity Strategy’). This is especially important as the current financial climate 
estimates slow to zero economic growth in the short to medium term in England, with the 
possibility of a recession in the coming months. This drop in growth, has historically hit the 
manufacturing industry the hardest, resulting in job losses. 

6.11 Breckland has below average incidences of deprivation in all domains with one exception, 
barriers to housing and services, where almost 20% of Brecklands SOAs fall within the most 
deprived 10% in England. Such deprivation is characteristic of rural areas and is found 
throughout Breckland, except in the population centres of Thetford, Swaffham, Watton, East 
Dereham, and Shipdham. 

6.12 Experian, the credit reference agency, have created specific information for Breckland in terms of 
financial exclusion. 

Experian’s research shows that Thetford-Abbey in Breckland is 387th (out of 10,000 wards) in 
ward-based ranking for likely demand for third sector affordable credit. This is important as it is 
the data set the Government are using to target resources through the Financial Inclusion Fund. 

The map and table on the following pages has been created by Experian to show the areas in 
Breckland which are most affected by financial exclusion. This will help us target areas where 
financial exclusion is most concentrated. 

13

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 26



Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 

14

27



Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 

15

28



7. Breckland’s current financial inclusion activity 

‘Agencies in Breckland are already helping many residents who are not financially capable 
and/or financially excluded as well as developing new initiatives to help more and more 
people’ 

7.1 Credit Unions 

 In Breckland, Norfolk Credit Union is the largest Credit Union and is expanding its community 
banks across Norfolk, although Rainbow Credit Union operates in Thetford. Credit Unions are 
not for profit financial institutions where members pool their assets to provide loans and other 
financial services to each other. They can also lend money to members that are guaranteed 
through other sources, like the Department for Work and Pensions, Councils and Housing 
Associations. Both Credit Unions in Breckland are run by volunteers and granted approval by 
the FSA.

In terms of Norfolk Credit Union, rates will vary on the loans they offer, although they are 
typically 12.9%, making them a significantly better proposition to other non-high street lenders 
and protect consumers in the same way; the Financial Services Compensation Scheme will 
protect the first £35,000 of customer savings. 

7.2 Housing Associations 

 Most of the Housing Associations that have properties in Breckland, offer a tenancy pack 
which is given to customers with lots of information regarding their tenancy, including energy 
suppliers and who to contact if there is a problem.  They ensure that their teams work 
proactively with the tenant to get all the arrangements for paying their rent set-up and also 
help those customers that have difficulty maintaining their rent, and this has improved the 
number of customers who pay on time and keep their tenancies. Peddars Way Housing 
Association text customers to remind them that their rental payment is due. This has proved 
very successful and other Housing Associations are looking to introduce similar systems.  

The majority of Housing Associations offer affordable home insurance to their tenants, either 
through AON or the National Housing Federation and also work in partnership with Credit 
Unions, offering their premises as a mobile office. Some Housing Associations are also in 
talks with Credit Unions in to help fund customers needing to borrow short term to fund their 
fuel costs in relation to bulk purchasing of oil and gas.

7.3 Trading Standards

 Trading Standards have been working on a campaign to reduce the amount of illegal money 
lenders throughout Norfolk, titled ‘Don’t get in with a loan sharkJit will cost you an arm and a 
leg’. The campaign which is based on the work of Birmingham City Council is being rolled out 
across the country. They are currently visiting Resident Social Landlords, Local Authorities and 
other agencies across Norfolk to further increase awareness and gain more prosecutions. 

7.4 Rent Deposit Loans Scheme 

Since the start of our Rent Deposit Loans Scheme, we have helped 85 people into private rented 
accommodation. The scheme helps tenants to secure the deposit and one months rent for 
customers that cannot find the funds themselves. Presently the scheme is considered for 
potentially homeless or homeless people in Breckland through the Housing Advice and 
Homelessness Team. In the future, we are looking for the scheme to be administered by Norfolk 
Credit Union. 

16

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 29



7.5 Furniture projects 

 There are several furniture projects in Breckland, namely; Keystone Green Ventures, YMCA, 
Salvation Army and The Gatehouse. The projects are usually based on obtaining unwanted 
furniture items from companies and individuals and passing them on to individuals/families that 
cannot afford to buy their own. There is usually no charge to the individuals/families for this 
service. 

7.6 Intensive Money Advice Service 

The council works in partnership with a local Citizens Advice Bureau to deliver intensive money 
advice to customers that are referred from Housing Advisors. Customers will typically be referred 
after an interview with a Housing Advice and Homelessness Officer where it is established that 
they have serious debt problems. This partnership has proved successful in sustaining tenancies 
and reducing debt. 

7.7 Voluntary organisations 

In Breckland, our local Citizens Advice Bureaus help many individuals and families that are 
suffering from debt problems. They continue to be successful in advising customers and lowing 
crippling debt. 

Stonham Homestay is a free and confidential housing support service for people who are at risk 
of losing their home, or need extra help to maintain their independence. As well as referring 
customers to Citizens Advice Bureau, Stonham Homestay will help clients by writing to their 
creditors (where required) and lowering their monthly payments. 

These are the largest voluntary organisations of their type in Breckland, however many other 
voluntary organisations help individuals who are not fully financially included. 

7.8 Affordable housing 

 There are five main schemes available to prospective buyers looking for a home in Breckland 
and the option of affordable social rented accommodation or intermediate rented if the customer 
does not want to buy. These are; Intermediate rent, Shared equity, Shared Ownership, 
Discounted Market Sale and Rent to HomeBuy.

To find out more about these schemes, please visit the housing pages on our website. 

17

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 30



8. What will the financial inclusion strategy achieve? 

‘We aim to create effective services/tools to be available for Breckland residents, lower the 
number of homelessness applications taken for mortgage and rent arrears and lift households out 
of fuel poverty’ 

8.1 Breckland’s Financial Inclusion Strategy and Action Plan will build on the principles of the 
Governments Strategy; ‘Financial Inclusion – the way forward’ and contribute to the aims and 
objectives in the subsequent action plan. The strategy will also work towards the Governments 
plans to close the ‘Digital Divide’ by 2011 along with Brecklands ‘Sustainable Communities 
Strategy’ by improving electronic access. 

The strategy will also contribute to the Breckland Council ‘Fuel Poverty Strategy’ and ‘Business 
Plan’ by helping to meet the target of lifting 200 households out of fuel poverty each year and 
involve people in the design and delivery of services that meet their needs. The ‘Local 
Development Framework’ will also be an integral part of ensuring the right home are built for the 
right people and promote good fuel economy. 

8.2 The Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy will seek to achieve the following outcomes: 

8.3 Develop effective services/tools to be available to Breckland residents.

 Develop a multi-agency approach to tackling financial inclusion issues 

Many agencies/companies have been involved in the development of the Breckland Financial 
Inclusion Strategy and we will work in partnership to deliver many of the actions. As financial 
exclusion and financial capability affects so many diverse communities, it is important to reach 
the widest possible audience. 

 Develop effective, customer lead services through consultation with customers 
In relation to financial inclusion, there is lots of research that shows that far more effective 
solutions can be achieved with customer input. Schemes that have failed to do this have often 
either not attracted much interest or make the desired impact. Working with agencies and 
companies, we will involve customers, particularly those who have experienced the 
consequences of financial exclusion and not being financially capable in the development of new 
or improvements to services. 

8.4 Lower the number of homelessness applications taken for Mortgage and Rent Arrears 

 Provide information and advice for residents affected by some of the issues relating to 
financial inclusion 

Currently, there is not a holistic document which gives information on a wide range of measures 
that could help residents that are not financially capable or are financially excluded. Working with 
several key agencies, an information pack would be produced with information about alternative 
forms of credit, like credit unions, where customers can seek help and support about their debts, 
how customers can get on the housing ladder with the help of companies and the government, 
how and why to get a bank account and budgeting tools and information to help manage their 
money. It will also cut through the jargon of the financial services by providing simple 
explanations to such terms as APR. The information pack would aim to reach as many 
households in Breckland as practicable. 

In addition, we will also create a simple sign-posting information sheet and distribute this to all 
parish clerks within the district with the view that they are placed in suitable locations in parishes. 
To provide further means of accessing information, a page within the Breckland Council website 
will be set-up to offer the same level of information and sign-posting as above with links to useful 
sites.

18

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 31



Further more, Money Fairs will provide information and advice from a range of agencies 
regarding debt advice, housing (including information for customers wishing to buy their own 
home), benefits and much more. Initially, this will be held in market towns with the option of 
utilising mobile services to reach more rural locations in the future. We will look to engage with 
banks to help encourage individuals to take up banking facilities, such as basic bank accounts 
and home insurance products. 

 Reduce the number of customers struggling as a result of using illegal money lenders 

Whilst it is unclear as to the number of illegal money lenders operating in Breckland, we want to 
extend the work currently being undertaken by illegal money lending unit. We aim educate 
agencies that may come into contact with customers who have borrowed or thinking of borrowing 
from an illegal money lender. The training will focus on alternative options for borrowing, both for 
customers that need to restructure loans from illegal money lenders or who need affordable short 
term credit and the support that is available. Agencies will be asked to encourage their customers 
to provide details on the lenders in an attempt to reduce the numbers operating in our area. 

 Increase the knowledge, skills and ability of residents to budget and reduce outgoings 

Information is already provided to customers with most Housing Associations which include 
details of rental payments, (amount and frequency) utility providers, housing benefit, council tax, 
contents insurance, budgeting tools, tenants responsibilities, landlord responsibilities, where to 
seek help and advice and much more. We aim to produce generic information for customers 
entering the private rented sector encompassing this information to help them budget and 
understand where savings can be made. 

Educating young people about what to expect when renting a home for the first time and how to 
manage their money has proven to be a factor for young people starting out on their own. The 
failure rate for young people is typically much higher when looking at rent arrears, among other 
factors. We aim to deliver lessons that will better prepare young people going into tenancies or 
buying their own home. The lessons would form part of PSHE (Personal, Social and Health 
Education) and be for 15 and 16 year olds. 

Another innovative way for people to budget is through the use of mobile phones. Many banking 
services now offer features where, for a small fee, the bank will text you when you balance 
reaches a certain level. This can be very beneficial for someone as it gives a warning before that 
their account is low on funds and potentially saves them the fee for going overdrawn. In addition, 
some successful schemes have been run for young people where a mobile phone tenancy game 
has been created, allowing young people to virtually experience running a home. A longer term 
aim is to approach mobile phone companies and banks to capture these ideas and get them into 
Breckland Schools and out to residents. Through these partnerships we aim to give more people 
the knowledge and the tools to budget.  

The internet is another powerful way of accessing and keeping on top of finances. With the 
closure of many banks over the years and few cash points in rural locations, internet banking has 
proved to be a powerful way to manage a budget. Many homes are still without either a computer 
or internet access. The strategy will aim to support the Governments aims to close the Digital 
Divide - children from jobless and low income families will receive a free computer and free 
broadband access under these major plans to close the digital divide amongst young people. 

 Increase the take-up of affordable home insurance and other protective insurances 

Many customers fail to adequately protect their belongings against theft and fire. When these 
instances happen and customers are not protected, it can put a huge strain on customers 
finances while they try and replace essential items. Working with housing associations initially 
and providers of home insurance that deal specifically with affordable home insurance, we would 
promote the benefits of home insurance. This will be achieved through housing association staff 

19

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 32



actively talking to customers at tenancy start up and through ongoing contact along with 
maintenance engineers. Promotion can also be done through housing associations publications. 

Discussions will also take place with providers about developing an affordable home insurance 
option for those in the wider community. Credit Unions will also play a vital role in this by 
developing a range of affordable insurances for their customers 

 Increase availability and accessibility of credit unions and financial services 

Credit Unions in Breckland are growing rapidly, but more can be done to increase their scope so 
more residents can access their service. Our aim would be to support the expansion of Credit 
Unions to all the market towns in Breckland and make available additional village representatives 
to provide a service in rural areas. By promoting the services offered by Credit Unions, we will 
encourage more children/parents to save through ‘young savers’ account and lock-in savings 
account. A long term ambition will be to support and seek funding for the development of a 
current account without the normal fees attached for going overdrawn and missing payments. 
Even basic bank accounts can charge large fees for missing payments. Customers choosing this 
option would have the option of a separate account for budgeting purposes. This would mean 
that a customer can have their spending money in one account and all their bills money in 
another, ensuring they don’t miss any payments and know exactly how much money is available 
to spend throughout the month. 

We will also explore the options with Banks and Building Societies for bringing affordable 
financial services to our rural residents. This may take the form of outreach services in locations 
across the district or a mobile vehicle, which can visit parishes based on demand.

8.5 Lift 200 households out of Fuel Poverty each year

 Increase the number of customers benefitting from bulk fuel ordering schemes 

There are some very successful oil ordering schemes happening across the country and 
residents are benefiting from a reduction in their fuel bills. Energy costs have increase over 30% 
so far over the last two years. We will encourage more residents to set-up and/or join oil ordering 
schemes and investigate the possibility of similar gas and electricity bulk ordering schemes. Oil 
companies are able to offer discounts on a bulk scheme as wide as the whole district or as small 
as 20 people.

 Increase household income of those who are financially struggling 

As energy costs rise, if families that are struggling financially are claiming all the benefits they are 
entitled to, then this can have an impact on their ability to meet their commitments. Working with 
the benefits team, we aim to ensure that more struggling families get what they are entitled to 
help reduce the burden of increasing costs. 

By working with the Job Centre and Employment Agencies, we will look to create a integrated, 
targeted programme of short-term vocational/soft and basic skills training that provides a full and 
inclusive range of support in order to move individuals into work. Activity will be targeted at 
individuals not eligible for mainstream provision, and/or provides additional, enhanced support for 
those for whom mainstream provision does not fully met their requirements. 

 Increase the number of homes benefiting from energy improvement measures 

There are many homes in Breckland that are not very energy efficient, leading to higher energy 
bills and in some cases, death, especially in the case of older people. We will work with 
Warmfront, the big six energy companies and our benefits team to ensure that we reach as many 
eligible households as possible, upgrade their homes to be more energy efficient and reduce 
energy bills. We will also encourage with Registered Social Landlords to increase the SAP rating 

20
Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 33



of their housing stock, especially where the means of obtaining energy are expensive, like oil and 
electricity.

 Increase the number of housing association tenants that have access to affordable credit for 
buying fuel 

Some families in Breckland simply cannot afford the rising cost of fuel and do not have access to 
appropriate, affordable credit. This may be because they do not even meet the Credit Unions 
minimum lending standards. We are looking to develop a hardship fund where housing associate 
customers can borrow small amounts to pay for their energy costs – most likely in the cases of oil 
or gas. The customer borrows the money from the Credit Union and the Housing Association 
guarantees the amount borrowed. This allows the customer to ensure that they can afford the 
large payments for ordering a winters supply of fuel to adequately heat their home.

21

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 34



9. Glossary of terms

Blacklisted Individuals who have been deemed un-credit worthy, usually because of 
non-payment for goods, services or credit. 

Cash Budget Income and payments are all dealt with in cash, without the use of a 
bank account. 

Credit History A individuals record of payments made to companies. It shows if 
payments have been made on time, for how much payments are, the 
amount outstanding, when the loans/credit/contract was taken out and 
how many payments have been paid and/or missed. Typically available 
to any company that searches your record with your permission. 
Individuals can also obtain a copy of their credit history at any time, 
usually with a small fee. 

Basic Banking Services Typically relates to basic bank accounts, which don’t have the same 
facilities as current accounts. They usually lack debit cards, the facility 
to have standing orders, cheque books and lending facilities. 

Sale and Rent Back Where a company/association purchases the home from the owner, 
who becomes a tenant and pays rent to remain in the property. Some of 
these schemes work by offering ‘Assured Short Hold Tenancy’ which is 
usually review on a six monthly basis. 

RSL Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) are independent housing 
organisations registered with the Housing Corporation under the 
Housing Act 1996. They may be Industrial and Provident Societies, 
registered charities or companies.

FSA The Financial Services Authority (FSA) is an independent non-
governmental body that regulates the financial services industry in the 
UK.

APR Annual Percentage Rate refers to the interest rate applied to loans and 
other forms of credit. 

ACORN ACORN is the leading geodemographic tool used to identify and 
understand the UK population and the demand for products and 
services. ACORN categorises all 1.9 million UK postcodes, which have 
been described using over 125 demographic statistics within England, 
Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland, and 287 lifestyle variables, 
making it the most powerful discriminator, giving a clearer 
understanding of clients and prospects. Full classifications of groups 
can be found by Acorn’s website. 

SOAs Super Output Areas (SOAs) are a new geographic hierarchy designed 
to improve the reporting of small area statistics in England and Wales. 
There are two layers of SOA: Lower and Middle. Lower Layer SOAs are 
subdivisions of Middle Layer SOAs, which in turn are subdivisions of 
local authorities. 

22

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 35



SMI Support for Mortgage Interest (SMI) - Support for Mortgage Interest 
(SMI) can be paid to people on Income Support, Pension Credit and 
income-based Jobseeker's Allowance if they are experiencing problems 
with the interest payments on their mortgage. 

Ward   A district into which a city or town is divided for the purpose of 
administration and elections. 

23

Breckland Financial Inclusion Strategy 36



10. Financial Inclusion Action Plan 

Ref Actions Lead Partner Funding and Resources
To be completed 
by 

AIM: Involve agencies/companies/financially excluded people in the delivery of the Financial Inclusion Action Plan

Outcome: Effective services/tools to be available to Breckland residents 

1.1 Meet with agencies/companies to gain commitment and 
ownership over delivery of the Action Plan

Breckland Council Nil required March 2009 
(Q4 2008) 

1.2 Incentivise customers who are potentially financially 
excluded and/or not financially capable to participate in 
consultation, which will help shape the development of 

actions

Breckland Council / Mancroft 
Advice Project 

£250 required 
Homelessness 
Prevention Fund

April 2011 
(Q4 2010) 

AIM: Raise awareness of Financial Inclusion and increase access to affordable and manageable financial services 

Outcome: Lower the number of homelessness applications taken for Mortgage and Rent Arrears to 1 household in every 2,800 Breckland Residents

2.1 Produce an information pack and aim to distribute to the 
majority of households across Breckland; the information 
pack will include; 

Dangers of loan sharks 

Benefits of Credit Unions 

Affordable Housing Schemes 

Mortgage rescue packages 

Budgeting tools 

Where to go to get financial advice

Cut through the financial jargon

Breckland Council / Trading 

Standards / Credit Unions / 

Citizens Advice 

External funding to be 

identified

March 2010 

(Q4 2009) 

2.2 Create a ‘financial inclusion web page’  which gives 
residents of Breckland information detailed in 2.1

Breckland Council / Trading 
Standards / Credit Unions / 
Citizens Advice 

Nil required September 2009 
(Q2 2009) 

37



Ref Actions Lead Partner Funding and Resources
To be completed 

by 

2.3
Create sign-posting information that details where 
residents that are in financial difficulty can go to get advice 
and distribute to Parish Clerks to place in village halls 

Breckland Council / Parish 
Clerks

Nil required. June 2009 
(Q1 2009) 

2.4 Hold a Money Fair to provide residents with information 

and advice from a range of agencies, e.g. benefits, 

housing, debt etc

Breckland Council / Anglia 
Revenues Partnership / 

Citizens Advice 

Nil required. March 2008 

(Q4 2008) 

2.5 Approach Housing Associations in Breckland to facilitate  
an information session for their staff regarding loan sharks 

from a representative of the Illegal money lending team 

Breckland Council / Trading 

Standards

Nil required March 2009 

(Q4 2008) 

2.6 Arrange for a representative of the illegal money lending 

team to give an information session regarding loan sharks 
to the Homelessness Forum and Homelessness Team 
Meeting

Breckland Council / Trading 
Standards

Nil required March 2009 
(Q4 2008)

2.7 Create a specific ‘tenants’ pack for customers going into 
Private Rented Accommodation that includes budgeting 

tools, places for them to fill in who their utilities are with 
(including ways in which they can save money) and 
information on their responsibilities as a tenant

Breckland Council Homelessness 
Prevention Fund £600-

£1,000

September 2009 
(Q2 2009) 

2.8 Deliver lessons in schools to educate and raise 15 and 16 
year old skills for independent living 

Breckland Council / Mancroft 
Advice Project / YMCA 

Nil required. March 2010 
(Q4 2009) 

2.9 Investigate and develop a mobile phone tenancy program 
to help young people understand responsibilities of 
budgeting and renting/owning a property

Breckland Council / Housing 
Associations / Mancroft 
Advice Project 

External funding to be 
identified

March 2011 
(Q4 2010) 

38



2.10 Investigate and develop a scheme to allow Breckland 
residents to acquire free or subsidized computer 
equipment and broadband access

Breckland Council External funding to be 
identified

March 2011 
(Q4 2010) 

2.11 Approach Housing Associations in Breckland and Home 
Insurance providers to further market their home 

insurance packages to social tenants

Home Insurance Providers / 
Housing Associations 

External funding to be 
identified

June 2009 
(Q1 2009) 

2.12 Support the creation of a Credit Union Current Account 

and the ability for customers to have a separate budget 

account

Breckland Council / Norfolk 
Credit Union 

External funding to be 
identified

March 2011 
(Q4 2010) 

2.13 Promote a young savers account for people aged 0-16 to 
Housing Association tenants in Breckland

Breckland Council / Credit 

Unions / Housing Associations

Nil required March 2009 

(Q4 2008)

2.14 Promote a Credit Union lock-in savings account to 
Housing Association tenants in Breckland

Breckland Council / Credit 

Unions / Housing Associations

Nil required March 2009 

(Q4 2008) 

2.15 Support the expansion of a Credit Union outlets in all 
Breckland market towns 

Breckland Council / Norfolk 

Credit Union 

External funding to be 

identified

March 2011 

(Q4 2010) 

2.16 Support the recruitment of Credit Union village 
representatives

Breckland Council / Norfolk 

Credit Union 

External funding to be 

identified

March 2010 

(Q4 2009) 

2.17 Support the introduction and promotion the CUNA 

affordable insurance options to Credit Union customers 

Breckland Council ./ Norfolk 

Credit Union 

Norfolk Credit Union March 2010 

(Q4 2009) 

2.18 Investigate and develop a tailored programme of short-
term vocational/soft basic skills training that help support 

individuals who are not eligible for mainstream provision 

Breckland Council ./ 
Employment Agencies / Job 

Centre / Housing Associations 

External funding to be 
identified

March 2011 
(Q4 2009) 

39



2.19 Investigate and develop a mobile banking service for 

residents in rural Breckland  

Breckland Council / Banks / 

Building Societies 

External funding to be 

identified

March 2011 

(Q4 2009) 

AIM: Increase household income and lower residents energy bills  

Outcome: Lift 200 households out of Fuel Poverty each year (AI-01.6.2)

3.1 Support the set-up a bulk oil ordering scheme in multiple 
Breckland parishes

Breckland Council / Parish 
Clerks

Nil required September 2009 

(Q2 2009) 

3.2 investigate gas and electricity bulk ordering schemes Breckland Council Nil required. September 2009 
(Q2 2009) 

3.3 Promote take up of housing benefit to Breckland 

Residents

Anglia Revenues Partnership Anglia Revenues 
Partnership 

June 2009 
(Q1 2009) 

3.4 Promote the take up of  Warmfront to private sector 

tenants and homeowners by means of council 
publications, leaflets and our website to utilise further 

insulate their home and improve energy efficiency 

Breckland Council / 
Warmfront

External funding to be 
identified

March 2010 
(Q4 2009) 

3.5 Approach Housing Associations in Breckland to set-up a 
hardship fund where Credit Union loans are guarantee by 

them to  enable their tenants to borrow 

Breckland Council / Credit 

Unions / Housing Associations

Credit Unions / Housing 

Associations  

March 2009 

(Q4 2008) 

3.6 Encourage Housing Associations to replace expensive 
ways of obtaining energy like oil and electricity with 

renewable energy sources like solar panels

Breckland Council / Housing 

Associations 

Housing Associations March 2011 

(Q4 2010) 

Note; Where external funding is required, Breckland Council can assist to BID to relevant funds on behalf of the lead organisation. Resources may be 
committed from Breckland Council to help ensure delivery of these actions.

40


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Avian Influenza
	7 Financial Inclusion Strategy

